24-CV-0426



IN THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA COURT OF APPEALS

Received 02/18/2025 11:49 PM Filed 02/18/2025 11:49 PM

YOSHIE S. DAVISON,

Appellant,

V.

AMERICAN PSYCHIATRICASSOCIATION, et al.

Appellees.

ON APPEAL FROM A JUDGMENT OF THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA CIVIL ACTION NO. 2022-AB-005715

APPELLANT'S CORRECTED OPENING BRIEF

David A. Branch
LAW OFFICE OF DAVID A. BRANCH
& ASSOCIATES, PLLC
1120 Connecticut Avenue, NW
Suite 500
Washington, DC 20036
(202) 785-2805 phone
(202) 785-0289 fax
davidbranch@dbranchlaw.com

PARTIES AND COUNSEL

Appellant

Yoshie S. Davison 21163 Bozman Court Ashburn, VA 20147

Counsel for Appellant

STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION

Appellant Yoshie Davison filed this Notice of Appeal on May 1, 2024, JA 00504, from the April 1, 2024 Order and Opinion of the Superior Court of the District of Columbia granting Defendants American Psychiatric Association's and Dr. Saul Levin's Motion for Summary Judgment, which disposed of Appellant Davison's claims of race and sex discrimination and retaliation under the D.C. Human Rights Act and the D.C. Family and Medical Leave Act. JA 00504-520.

STATEMENT OF ISSUES

- I. Whether the Superior Court erred in finding that Defendants/Appellees were entitled to summary judgment for the causes of action for race and sex discrimination under the DC Human Rights Act.
- II. Whether the Superior Court erred in finding that Defendants/Appellees were entitled to summary judgment on the claims of interference and retaliation under the D.C Family and Medical Leave Act.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellant, an Asian American female, worked as the Chief of Staff for Appellees. JA 00504-520. Throughout her employment, Appellee Levin subjected her to discrimination based on her sex and race, including requiring her to retrieve breakfast foods for the office; referring to women as "honey" and making comments such as "not on my watch honey;" and yelling at her and berating her in the workplace. JA00003-11. On February 15, 2022, Appellant had her annual evaluation with Appellee Levin and during the meeting, he became irate and issued her a performance evaluation stating that her job was to "serve" him. JA00008-9. Appellant and Appellee Levin agreed to complete her performance review later that day, and there was also a discussion that Appellant would consider resigning with a severance payment. *Id.* After the meeting, Appellant took pre-planned vacation days, and on February 18, 2022, Appellant initiated a request for FMLA leave. *Id.* Later that day, after the close of business, Appellee Levin announced that he was accepting Appellant's resignation and her employment was terminated. *Id.* Appellant filed suit under the DC Human Rights Act for discrimination based on race and sex and retaliation, and under the DC FMLA. The Trial Court granted summary judgment on all claims, finding insufficient evidence linking the actions taken against Plaintiff to discrimination and that Defendant Levin was not aware that Appellant requested FMLA leave when she was terminated, as Defendant claimed that it was not aware that Appellant had requested FMLA leave when Appellee Levin terminated her employment. JA 00504-520. The Trial Court's

grant of summary judgment should be reversed because there was direct evidence of discrimination based on race and sex, and evidence of retaliation; that there was evidence to create a triable issue of fact on whether there was an FMLA violation because at his deposition, Appellee Levin claimed that he could not recall if anyone discussed if whether Appellant had requested FMLA leave at the time Appellant was terminated. This fact, compiled with the other facts supporting knowledge of Appellant's FMLA application, created a triable issue of fact.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Ms. Davison is an Asian American female, who began working at the APA in 1998, having completed two tours with the APA bridging her service for a combined twenty-three-year tenure. JA 00489. Ms. Davison earned an undergraduate degree from the University of Virginia and a Master of Social Work from George Mason University. Id. Ms. Davison was employed as Chief of Staff for the APA and as the Chief of Staff, she reported directly to Dr. Levin and advised him on critical issues to ensure that the organization's priorities and directives were carried out and served as a liaison between Dr. Levin and staff. Id. Ms. Davison is a consummate professional and performed her job in an exceptional manner over the years. Id. Throughout her employment, Ms. Davinson was viewed as an outstanding employee, and was known for her professionalism and exceeding expectations in her position. Despite her performance, due to the abrasive and discriminatory treatment of Ms. Davison by Dr. Saul Levin, Ms. Davison was forced out of her position by Dr. Levin, effective March 4, 2022. Id.

Dr. Levin became the Chief Executive Officer and Medical Director of the APA in October 2013. JA 00490. During his employment at the APA, Dr. Levin discriminated against Ms. Davison and other minority employees. *Id.* Dr. Levin displayed his disdain for minority employees, and female minority employees in particular. *Id.* Dr. Levin made it clear to Ms. Davison that he viewed her as being employed to serve him and comply with his orders, above the APA. *Id.* For example,

he ordered Ms. Davison to bring in donuts and breakfast items when staff members had birthdays, and he referred to her and other female physician members as "honey" and used phrases such as "not on my watch honey" when speaking to her and other female staff during staff meetings. Id.

Other minority staff and Ms. Davison endured years of abusive treatment and a toxic work environment from Dr. Levin. Id. There were many Black, Indigenous, and People of Color ("BIPOC") at the APA, but Dr. Levin made no effort understand or respect them or their rights and has questioned whether Asians were considered to be part of BIPOC. Id. Ms. Davison had to remind Dr. Levin, frequently, that Asians are part of this group, but he would only mention Blacks, Indigenous People, and Latinos, despite the recent violent attacks on Asian Americans in the United States. *Id.* Dr. Levin did not appreciate that Asians fit into the BIPOC category and should not be unlawfully discriminated against. During the COVID 19 pandemic, there was also a Board of Trustees work group that proposed taking Asians out of the minority group category at the APA. Id. In addition, there are BIPOC physician members who continue to express concerns about structural racism throughout the organization and concerns that Dr. Levin and leadership are not taking the issue seriously and continue to resign from the APA. *Id.* For example, Dr. Jessica Isom resigned from the APA in February 2022 and stated, "I will no longer tolerate anti-Blackness in the American Psychiatric Association." Id.

In addition to Ms. Davison's executive level Chief of Staff duties where she

regularly communicated with Board members and APA staff, Ms. Davison saw her role largely as hearing staff concerns about where the organization was headed with a lack of leadership and erratic and abusive behavior of Dr. Levin which created a toxic work environment. JA 00491.

Dr. Levin's behavior began to become intolerable before the onset of the COVID- 19 pandemic. *Id.* Ms. Davison observed that Dr. Levin was placing an inordinate amount of pressure on several BIPOC senior staff members, including the Director of Diversity and Health Equity, Ranna Parekh, MD, MPH; Director of Research, Philip Wang, MD, DrPH; and APA Foundation Executive Director, Dan Gillison. *Id.* Ms. Davison attempted to explain to Dr. Levin that he had lost a number of his senior staff members already and he would lose more as they would not accept his pressure and abusive treatment and would leave the organization. *Id.* Dr. Levin became irate and confronted Ms. Davison in the parking garage of the office about this issue and raised his voice at her. This incident was witnessed by the previous CFO. *Id.* These BIPOC senior staff members resigned from their positions in June 2019, September 2019, and January 2020, followed by other senior staff who departed in March 2020 and May 2021. Id.

Dr. Levin subjected Ms. Davison to disparate treatment based on her sex and race in compensation and work assignments. JA 00491. Because of Dr. Levin's management style, there were frequent vacancies for chiefs of departments. *Id.* This was so common that the APA developed a practice of selecting interim chiefs when

there were vacancies and providing additional compensation in the form of a monthly stipend when staff were asked/required to serve as an interim chief. Id. Ms. Davison was required to serve as the interim CSO for over a year without additional compensation. Ms. Davison observed that five of her colleagues who were required to assume interim responsibilities were provided monthly stipends, but Ms. Davison, one of two Asian staff members, was required to perform interim duties without the stipend. Id. Ms. Davison was told by Dr. Levin that she would not be provided additional compensation because her interim assignment was not a "heavy lift," even though it required that she review performance evaluations, timesheets, multiple reports, budgets, work with staff and area liaisons and work on other time sensitive work. In addition, there was also another vacancy in the office as the Special Assistant position had been vacant for two years where the Executive Assistant and Ms. Davison had to take on additional duties and also took turns covering these duties when one person was out of the office, adding even more to the workload. Id.

With the onset of the COVID-19 pandemic, Dr. Levin disregarded the safety concerns raised by staff members. JA 00492. For example, at a staff meeting on May 28, 2020, Dr. Levin gave conflicting information on infection rates, what groups were at risk, and how to stay safe. *Id.* When Ms. Davison attempted to provide clarifying information at this meeting, Ms. Davison was promptly dismissed by Dr. Levin in the presence of other staff. *Id.* Dr. Levin later called Ms. Davison and accused her of undermining him and made other threatening accusations against

her, despite the fact that she was simply trying to protect him by providing the correct information to staff. *Id*.

Dr. Levin compounded Ms. Davison's normal job duties with two additional roles, one as an interim CSO for over a year which involved reviewing performance evaluations, timesheets, multiple reports, budgets, working with staff and area liaisons and other time sensitive work; and the second involved rotating with the Executive Assistant to take on responsibility for a vacant Special Assistant position that carried additional duties. *Id.* Over Ms. Davison's protest, this was all without additional compensation. *Id.*

In December 2020, Dr. Levin insisted that Ms. Davison provide him with a list of all Black staff so he could host Black staff listening sessions which were eventually held in August of 2021. JA 00493. Dr. Levin made promises to do the same for other BIPOC staff but did not do so and was offended at suggestions to do so for other minority groups. *Id*.

Dr. Levin disingenuously claimed that the level of communication was lacking between Ms. Davison as the Chief of Staff and his role as the CEO. JA 00493. Ms. Davison worked with the Executive Assistant to set up weekly meetings with Dr. Levin, the Special Assistant, and the Executive Assistant to go over upcoming meetings and also additional prep meetings with bulleted talking points for each meeting where Dr. Levin had to talk. *Id.* Ms. Davison would also make a point to call and text him during breaks or at lunch or even after work regularly in

addition to the one-on-one meetings. Id.

Dr. Levin's behavior became even more abusive in 2022, further adding to the toxic work environment. JA 00493. In February 2022, for example, Dr. Levin accused a Black female employee of not sharing what she had talked to Ms. Davison about and yelled at her. *Id.* In fact, everything had been shared with him. *Id.* Ms. Davison later discussed this issue and the argument about the appointments list with Dr. Levin and told him that yelling at staff was unacceptable and should not occur. *Id.* Prior to this, Dr. Levin also yelled at Ms. Davison and yet another Black female staffer of going behind his back. Id. This incident regarded the Education Chief search in which Dr. Levin accused Cheretta Clerkley, Interim Education Chief, and Ms. Davison of colluding behind his back regarding options for the search. *Id.* Ms. Clerkley and Ms. Davison were in shock when Dr. Levin lashed out in this manner, especially since he was the one who asked us to work on the search together and he wanted to see the proposed plan with suggested options which was exactly what Ms. Clerkley and Ms. Davison showed him. *Id*.

After organizing the listening session with the black staff members, Dr. Levin promised to organize similarly for other minority groups. JA 00494. Ms. Davison reminded him of this, and other staff reminded him of this, but he never followed through on this promise and in fact, would get angry anytime Ms. Davison brought it up. *Id.* Asian Americans, he would say, are not people of color who can be considered a minority deserving of listening sessions despite personal experiences

of hostility and discrimination just like Black Americans do. Id.

On February 15, 2022, Ms. Davison was scheduled for her annual 2021 performance evaluation with Dr. Levin. JA 00494-495. During the meeting, Dr. Levin claimed that he did not know what Ms. Davison was doing with her time at work and accused her of not doing anything productive. Id. Dr. Levin unfairly compared his calendar to Ms. Davison calendar, despite the fact that a metrics report showed a 97.5% achievement rate in 2021. Id. Appalled, shocked, and distressed by the treatment, Ms. Davison asked for a Human Resources representative to attend the rest of the meeting. *Id.* Since the Human Resources Director was out on leave, the new CFO, Kevin Madden, was asked to sit in on the meetings. Id. While waiting for Mr. Madden to join the meeting, Dr. Levin kept repeating his criticism of Ms. Davison further stating that she "haven't been good for a while" and that Ms. Davison had not been doing her job despite the fact that she had scored high during her previous performance evaluations and led the staff to achieve 97.5% on the performance metrics set up by Dr. Levin himself. On top of this, he suggested Ms. Davison take on even more large initiatives without compensation. Ms. Davison, frustrated by the treatment she was subjected to by Dr. Levin, indicated that she could end her employment on March 4, 2022, or after the March 12-13 Board meeting with a severance package but did not officially resign or offer her resignation. Id. Dr. Levin responded: "Fine then, talk to the CFO about a package." *Id.* After which, Mr. Madden arrived to observe the meeting but did not know what

to say because of the arguing and yelling from Dr. Levin, and Dr. Levin continued with his irate behavior in the presence of Mr. Madden. Id. In the Customer Service Section of the performance evaluation, for example, Dr. Levin stated that "HE is [her] customer and [she is] there to SERVE him." Id. Ms. Davison responded that this was not part of her role and in her twenty three years of employment, she had not heard that before. *Id.* Dr. Levin responded by becoming even angrier when she objected to that language in her evaluation. *Id.* Dr. Levin also compared her to Jon Fanning, a white male who had left the organization a year earlier, in the written portion of her review and made it clear he preferred to work with white men. *Id.* Ms. Davison was humiliated by Dr. Levin at this meeting and felt harassed and discriminated against based on an explicit statement that an Asian American female was there to serve him. Id. The meeting at the halfway point, however, had to end because of another planned meeting, and Dr. Levin stated the meeting would resume at the end of the day, but it did not resume and was rescheduled to February 22, 2022, following her scheduled vacation. *Id.* Mr. Madden was shocked by Dr. Levin's behavior during the meeting and later confided with Ms. Davison that this was not how employee reviews were to be conducted. Id. I left the meeting confused and distraught. Id.

After the evaluation meeting (February 15th a Tuesday), Kevin Madden privately offering a suggestion to Ms. Davison that if he were in Ms. Davison's shoes, he would go on the pre-planned vacation, get some rest, and when she comes

back to the office, she should talk to Saul Levin about how she needs to take a break as she was burned out and that it was a good idea to take a few weeks off. JA 00495.

Ms. Davison decided to seek medical help and started the FMLA process with Human Resources the morning of February 18, 2022. *Id*.

On February 16, 17 and 18, 2022, Ms. Davison took a preplanned and scheduled vacation. *Id*.

On February 18, 2022, after her unnecessarily stressful performance review, Ms. Davison applied for Family and Medical Leave Act leave to take time off due to the stress and anxiety from the continuous hostile work environment over the last two years, which severely impacted her mental health. JA 00495-496. Ms. Davison began the application process with Flora Oliphant in APA's Human Resources department and received FMLA documents from Human Resources including paperwork for her physician to fill out along with her position description. *Id.* When she began the FMLA leave process with Ms. Oliphant, she or Dinera Dussembaev (whom she copied on the email), discussed this with Colleen Coyle, APA Legal Counsel, who deals with senior staff personnel issues, and upon receiving this information notified Dr. Levin. At that time, Ms. Davison had over 600 hours of sick leave available and over 200 hours of annual leave. *Id.*

That evening (February 18, 2022) at 5:40 p.m. after Ms. Davison initiated her FMLA leave request, Ms. Davison received an email from Dr. Levin accepting her "resignation" from the February 15, 2022 meeting, stating: "Dear Yoshie, I am

saddened by your resignation as we have worked well together for many years. As I see this, I gave you a good evaluation with the recommendation that communications between us need to be more frequent and more informative. This is a topic I have been discussing with you throughout the COVID pandemic and before without improvement. I understand you do not agree that communication has been spotty. Since we cannot find common ground on how to go forward in improving communications, I will accept your resignation effective March 4, 2022. I will see you in the office on Tuesday, lets discuss. Saul." JA 00496. Ms. Davison responded to Dr. Levin's email, stating that she did not officially resign and that she had already started the FMLA process with Human Resources and had understood that they were meeting on February 22, 2022 to go over the rest of her evaluation and to go over her FMLA leave: "Saul, I did not submit a formal resignation and I've already started FMLA process with HR earlier today. We should meet Tuesday like we planned and I'd like HR to be there with me. Yoshie." *Id*.

It was highly unusual and not standard practice at all to email the entire HR Team on a Friday evening, of a holiday weekend no less, about an FMLA matter. JA 00496.

On February 21, 2022, Ms. Davison saw her doctor who treated her for anxiety disorder and stress rash. Ms. Davison also provided her physician with her FMLA paperwork to fill out. JA 00497. The FMLA forms indicated that Ms. Davison had until March 4, 2022 to submit the paperwork. *Id*.

On February 22, 2022, Ms. Davison entered a meeting to which she believed was a continuance of the February 15, 2022 meeting regarding her performance evaluation and FMLA leave with Dr. Levin and Mr. Madden. Id. Instead, Dr. Levin handed Ms. Davison a separation letter which falsely stated that she resigned effective March 4, 2022 unless offered a severance package in which she would resign effective March 14, 2022 and that her FMLA request was not relevant: "Dear Yoshie: This letter clarifies your employment status with APA. On February 15 during your evaluation, you told me and Kevin Madden that you intended to resign effective March 4th, unless we agreed to provide you with a severance, in which case you would stay until March 14th, after the Board meeting. Your reaction to your recent performance evaluation, including your decision to resign, shows me that our relationship is no longer productive for us or for APA. After considering the options you gave, on February 18th, I told you that we would accept your resignation effective March 4th. The fact that you called HR asking about FMLA leave is not relevant. FMLA is intended for employees who need to take a leave from work and intend to return to work. By resigning, you obviously do not intend to return to APA. As an aside, I had no idea that you asked HR about FMLA when I emailed you to accept your March 4 option. Please spend the coming weeks before March 4th working with Colleen and Kevin to wrap up any pending items." *Id.*

In response to the letter, Ms. Davison stated, "I was really shocked to see this because threatening to quit under duress is different than resigning" reiterating that

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