YOSHIE S. DAVISON,

Appellant,

V.

AMERICAN PSYCHIATRIC ASSOCIATION, et al.,

Appellees.

On Appeal from Final Judgment of the Superior Court of the District of Columbia Civil Action No. 2022-CAB-005715

#### **BRIEF OF APPELLEES**

John M. Remy\* Andrew J. Bellwoar JACKSON LEWIS, P.C. 11790 Sunrise Valley Drive Suite 400 Reston, VA 20191

> john.remy@jacksonlewis.com andrew.bellwoar@jacksonlewis.com

(703) 483-8300 (Tel)

### PARTIES AND COUNSEL

### **Appellant**

Yoshi S. Davison 21163 Bozman Court Ashburn, VA 20147

### **Counsel for Appellant**

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

### **SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT**

Ms. Davison alleged the APA violated the DCFMLA by interfering with her leave rights and retaliated against her for inquiring about FMLA leave. These claims failed at summary judgment because it is undisputed that Dr. Levin did not know about Plaintiff's FMLA inquiry when he accepted her resignation.

Ms. Davison also alleged a hostile work environment based on her race (Asian) and sex (female). However, Ms. Davison admitted that Dr. Levin never made any inappropriate racial or sexual comments to her. Ms. Davison's claim is based almost entirely on a handful of work-related arguments or other statements which have no connection to her protected characteristics. The Trial Court found only one comment was related to gender – Dr. Levin occasionally using the expression "not on my watch, honey." This comment, with or without the handful of work-related arguments, does not come close to meeting the requirements of "severe and pervasive conduct" to establish a hostile work environment claim. These claims fail as a matter of law.

Ms. Davison also alleges APA terminated her due to her race, sex, and in retaliation for alleged protected conduct from 2020. These claims also failed because Ms. Davison indisputably resigned and cannot come close to establishing constructive discharge. Her alleged protected activity also occurred in December 2020, 15 months before she resigned in 2022. This attenuated complaint cannot form

the basis of a retaliatory discharge claim, even if she were terminated and did not resign.

Ms. Davison also alleges APA did not pay a stipend that other executives received for taking on additional, but admittedly distinct, interim roles of their own. Under the DCHRA, this pay claim is analyzed under the Equal Pay Act rubric, which precludes Plaintiff from comparing herself to executives in other positions. More importantly, white and male executives in a similar position to Plaintiff also did not receive this stipend, and APA's actions were all based on legitimate and non-discriminatory reasons.

Ms. Davison appealed the lower court's grant of summary judgment on all counts. However, on appeal, she relies only on conclusory statements of discriminatory bias, conjecture of retaliatory animus, and a misapprehension of the grounds for dismissing her equal pay claims—all of which the lower court directly rejected. Ms. Davison identifies no material factual dispute to show the lower court erred in granting summary judgment on all counts. Thus, her appeal lacks merit and should be denied.

### **ARGUMENT**

### I. Standard of Review.

The Court reviews the Superior Court's Order granting summary judgment to APA *de novo*, applying the same standard as the Superior Court used in considering the motion for summary judgment. *Cesarano v. Reed Smith LLP*, 990 A.2d 455, 463 (D.C. App. 2010) (citations omitted). Summary judgment is proper if there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. *Anderson v. Liberty Lobby, Inc.*, 477 U.S. 242, 247-48 (1986). A dispute is "genuine" and precludes summary judgment only "if the evidence is such that a reasonable jury could return a verdict for the nonmoving party." *Id.* at 248. "Conclusory allegations by the nonmoving party are insufficient to establish a genuine issue of material fact or to defeat the entry of summary judgment." *Hamilton v. Howard Univ.*, 963 A.2d 308, 313 (D.C. App. 2008), citing *Hollins v. Federal National Mortgage Assoc.*, 760 A.2d 563, 570 (D.C. 2000).

# II. The Trial Court Did Not Err When It Granted Summary Judgment on Ms. Davison's FMLA Interference and Retaliation Claims.

D.C. Courts evaluate FMLA retaliation claims under the familiar burdenshifting framework established *McDonnell Douglas v. Green*, 411 U.S. 792 (1973). *See Waggel v. George Wash. Univ.*, 957 F.3d 1364, 1375 (D.C. Cir. 2020).<sup>4</sup> To

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> D.C. courts analyzing the DCFMLA rely upon federal FMLA authority. *Guillen-Perez v. District of Columbia*, 415 F. Supp. 3d 50, 68 (D.D.C. 2019).

succeed under this framework, Ms. Davison must first be able to establish a prima facie case of FMLA retaliation or interference. *Id.* If she can do so, "the employer must produce evidence of a legitimate, non-discriminatory reason for its action. If the employer does so, the employee is obligated to produce evidence that the employer's purported legitimate reason was pretextual, and that 'the real reason for the adverse action was retaliation." *Holloway v. D.C. Gov't*, 9 F. Supp. 3d. 1, 8 (D.D.C. 2013), quoting *Roseboro v. Billington*, 606 F. Supp. 2d 104, 109-10 (D.D.C. 2009).

### A. Ms. Davison Cannot Establish a Prima Facie Claim of DCFMLA Retaliation.

Under the *McDonnell Douglas* framework, "an employee may establish a prima facie case creating a presumption of retaliation by showing (1) that [s]he exercised rights afforded by the FMLA, (2) that [s]he suffered an adverse employment action, and (3) that there was a causal connection between the exercise of [her] rights and the adverse employment action." *Holloway*, 9 F. Supp. 3d at 8, citing *Roseboro*, 606 F. Supp. 2d at 109 (internal quotation omitted). "A materially adverse action is one that might have dissuaded a reasonable worker from making or supporting a charge of discrimination." *Cole v. Powell*, 605 F. Supp. 2d 20, 26 (D.D.C. 2009) (cleaned up).

1. Ms. Davison Cannot Show an Adverse Employment Action.

As to the second element, resignation is presumed voluntary, and cannot be

considered an adverse employment action, unless shown otherwise. *See Marcus v. Yellen*, 2022 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 157484, \*69 (D.D.C. Aug. 31, 2022), citing *Aliotta v. Bair*, 614 F.3d 556, 566 (D.C. Cir. 2010) (holding resignations are presumptively voluntary). "[A]bsent some indication that the employer was trying to drive the employee from the workplace entirely or that the employee 'quit just ahead of the fall of the axe,' the law will not permit a resignation to be transformed into a discharge." *Kalinoski v. Gutierrez*, 435 F. Supp. 2d 55, 78 (D.D.C. 2006), quoting *Lindale v. Tokheim Corp.*, 145 F.3d 953, 955 (7th Cir. 1998).

Here, the undisputed facts prove Ms. Davison was not constructively discharged, but instead resigned.<sup>5</sup> It is undisputed, at the February 15, 2022 meeting, Ms. Davison resigned effective either March 4 or March 14 (with a severance package), with Dr. Levin able to pick Ms. Davison's final day. JA00145-46; JA00148; JA00226; JA00263. Ms. Davison admits she offered Dr. Levin her resignation and the choice of which would be her last day, and that she does not know how Dr. Levin interpreted this statement. *Id.*; JA00170. In fact, Dr. Levin and Mr. Madden both interpreted Ms. Davison's statement as an unequivocal resignation, and the lower court agreed. JA00251; JA00261-62; JA00266; JA00512 n. 2. Although Ms. Davison later attempted to retract her resignation, her attempt to

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> For the reasons stated in Section IV below, Ms. Davison cannot show constructive discharge as a matter of law.

do so after-the-fact is irrelevant, as the trial court noted:

"It is important to note that it is undisputed that [Ms. Davison] offered [Dr.] Levin her resignation dates, and her later declared intent cannot change this fact. *See Watson v. D.C. Water & Sewer Auth.*, 923 A.2d 903, 907 (D.C. App. 2007) (holding that "[o]nce an employee voluntarily resigns from her job, the employer's decision not to accept a subsequent withdrawal of that resignation does not transform the employee's act into an involuntary one.")."

#### JA00512 n. 2.

It is also undisputed Dr. Levin went into the February 15, 2022 meeting with no intention of terminating Ms. Davison's employment with APA, nor any expectation she would leave APA. JA00055. In her brief, Ms. Davison relies on the conclusory assertion she was constructively discharged, but she identified *no facts to support that assertion*. Thus, as in *Kalinoski*, "absent some indication that the employer was trying to drive the employee from the workplace entirely or that the employee "quit just ahead of the fall of the axe," —and especially in light of the undisputed evidence to the contrary—"the law will not permit a resignation to be transformed into a discharge." *Kalinoski*, 435 F. Supp. 2d at 78. The lower court did not err in finding Ms. Davison cannot show she suffered an adverse employment action.

#### 2. Ms. Davison Cannot Establish a Causal Connection.

As to the third element, it is axiomatic that an employee "must show that the decision-makers responsible for the [alleged] adverse action had actual knowledge

of the protected activity" to establish a causal connection. *Kolowski v. District of Columbia*, 244 A.3d 1008, 1014 (D.C. App. 2020), quoting *McFarland v. George Washington Univ.*, 935 A.2d 337, 357 (D.C. App. 2007).

Here, the undisputed record shows that Dr. Levin (the decisionmaker) was not aware of Ms. Davison engaging in any FMLA-related activity when he emailed Ms. Davison on February 18, 2022, accepting the March 4 separation date. JA00056; JA00252-54. Ms. Davison admits she cannot dispute the fact that Dr. Levin first heard of her FMLA inquiry 38 minutes *after* he sent the February 18 email. JA00360-61. Instead, as the trial court noted, Ms. Davison "simply puts forth the conclusory argument and speculation that [Dr.] Levin must have known" about her FMLA inquiry. JA00512. Because Ms. Davison admitted no personal knowledge of Dr. Levin being told about her FMLA inquiry, and her conclusory assertion to the contrary conflicted all record evidence, the trial court properly found "no genuine dispute as to any material fact at issue" in Ms. Davison's FMLA claim. JA00151-52; JA00159-60; JA00514.

On Appeal, Ms. Davison relies solely on the conclusory (and fact-free) assertion that Dr. Levin must have had knowledge of her FMLA inquiry. She raises no evidence to support this assertion and ignores the trial court's explicit rejection of her baseless speculation. Instead, she points to a single conversation between Ms. Davison and Mr. Madden—which Dr. Levin *did not witness*—and Dr. Levin stating

he "could not recall" anyone telling him about Ms. Davison's FMLA inquiry. Davison Br. at 23-24. However, neither fact contradicts Dr. Levin's testimony that he did not know about Ms. Davison's FMLA inquiry. This speculation cannot overcome the undisputed record, including Dr. Levin's, Mr. Madden's, Ms. Oliphant's and even Ms. Davison's testimony. At bottom, Ms. Davison does not believe Dr. Levin and is asking the Court to reverse based on that speculation alone. As this Court explained in *Kolowski*, this belief is not enough to prevent summary judgment:

"[A]lthough credibility determinations are left to the province of the jury, not the judge, the non-moving party cannot avoid summary judgment merely by impugning the honesty of the moving party's witness. That is, when an argument in opposition to a motion for summary judgment boils down to an allegation that defense witnesses are lying and when challenges to witnesses' credibility are all that a plaintiff relies on, and [s]he has shown no independent facts—no proof—to support [her] claims, summary judgment in favor of the defendant is proper."

Kolowski, 244 A.3d at 1014.

The exact same situation is present here. Thus, the trial court did not err in concluding there was no genuine issue of material fact as to Ms. Davison's FMLA retaliation claim and that Defendants were entitled to judgment as a matter of law.

### B. Ms. Davison Cannot Establish a Claim of DCFMLA Interference.

To establish a *prima facie* case of DCFMLA interference, "a plaintiff must show (1) employer conduct that reasonably tends to interfere with, restrain, or deny

the exercise of FMLA rights, and (2) prejudice arising from the interference." *Waggel*, 957 F.3d at 1376. "An employee terminated for reasons not related to his or her FMLA request or leave, accordingly, lacks an interference claim, even if termination effectively denies an FMLA leave request." *Savignac v. Day*, 486 F. Supp. 3d 14, 43-44 (D.D.C. 2020).

Here, Ms. Davison's claim is that Dr. Levin and the APA accepted her resignation before she could request or take FMLA leave. However, as explained above, it is undisputed Dr. Levin was not aware of Ms. Davison's FMLA activity when he accepted her resignation. The only possible interpretation of the record is that Ms. Davison's employment ended "for reasons not related to her FMLA request." *Savignac*, 486 F.Supp.3d at 43-44. Even if accepting her resignation "effectively denies an FMLA leave request," Ms. Davison's interference claim must fail. *Id.* Thus, as the trial court held, Ms. Davison cannot "establish FMLA interference because [she] provides no evidence that can create a causal connection between the protected activity and alleged adverse action, nor does she provide evidence that [Dr.] Levin had notice of [her] FMLA inquiry at the time" he accepted her resignation. JA00518-19.

On appeal, Ms. Davison once again relies on the unsupported and speculative assertion Dr. Levin did, in fact, know of her FMLA inquiry when he accepted her resignation. This speculation fails because she presents "no independent facts—no

proof—to support [her] claims, summary judgment in favor of the defendant [was] proper." *Kolowski*, 244 A.3d at 1014.

Thus, the trial court also did not err in concluding there was no genuine issue of material fact as to Ms. Davison's FMLA interference claim and that APA was entitled to judgment as a matter of law.

### C. <u>Ms. Davison Cannot Show Pretext for DCFMLA Violations.</u>

Defendants' legitimate reason for accepting Ms. Davison's resignation is simple: she gave Dr. Levin a choice of resignation dates, and he chose one. To show this stated reason was mere pretext for retaliation, Ms. Davison was required to "demonstrate that retaliation [or interference] was not just 'a mere factor among many,' but the 'determinative factor' or 'real' and 'true reason' behind the adverse action." *Roseboro*, 606 F. Supp. 2d at 109-10.

The same issue fatal to Ms. Davison's *prima facie* claim is equally fatal to her attempt to show pretext. As explained above, Ms. Davison's request for FMLA information could not possibly have been the "determinative factor" or "true reason" behind Dr. Levin accepting her resignation effective March 4 because Dr. Levin was not aware of her FMLA inquiry. JA00056; JA00252-54; *Roseboro*, 606 F. Supp. 2d at 109-10. Ms. Davison raises no new arguments with respect to pretext than she did regarding her *prima facie* claim, and for the reasons explained above, her argument fails.

Thus, the trial court did not err in finding "no genuine dispute as to any material fact at issue in Count IV" and granting summary judgment in APA's favor.

# III. The Superior Court Did Not Err in Granting Summary Judgment on Ms. Davison's Race-Based and Sex-Based Harassment Claims.

Ms. Davison appeals from the trial court's grant of summary judgment on Counts I and II of her Complaint which allege, in part, a hostile work environment based on race and sex. Hostile work environment under the DCHRA based on either protected characteristic requires a showing "(1) that [Ms. Davison] is a member of a protected class, (2) that [she] has been subjected to unwelcome harassment, (3) that the harassment was based on membership in the protected class, and (4) that the harassment is severe and pervasive enough to affect a term, condition or privilege of employment." *Lively v. Flexible Packaging Ass'n*, 830 A.2d 874, 888 (D.C. App. 2003). Ms. Davison's claims failed because she cannot meet the third or fourth elements.

### A. Ms. Davison Cannot Tie Dr. Levin's Alleged Statements to Her Protected Characteristics.

As to the third element, Ms. Davison "must always prove that the conduct at issue was not merely tinged with offensive... connotations, but actually constituted discrimination... because of the employee's protected status." *Clemmons v. Acad. for Educ. Dev.*, 70 F. Supp. 3d 282, 295 (D.D.C. 2014), quoting *Peters v. District of Columbia*, 873 F. Supp. 2d 158, 188-89 (D.D.C. 2012) (excluding from

consideration personnel decisions that lack a linkage of correlation to protected characteristics). Alleged harassment "aris[ing] from personal conflicts between plaintiff and her... supervisor... rather than arising from any discriminatory animus," is insufficient to sustain a claim under the DCHRA. *Clemmons*, 70 F. Supp. 3d at 298, quoting *Nichols v. Truscott*, 424 F. Supp. 2d 124, 140 (D.D.C. 2006).

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